

- [home](#)
- [accessibility](#)
- [FAQ](#)
- [feedback](#)
- [sitemap](#)
- [login](#)
-



California LEGISLATIVE INFORMATION

Quick Search:

- Home
- Bill Information
- California Law
- Publications
- Other Resources
- My Subscriptions
- My Favorites
- [Bill Information >>](#)
- [Bill Search >>](#)
- Text

[PDF](#) | [Add To My Favorites](#) | [Track Bill](#) | Version:

Go



AB-654 COVID-19: exposure: notification.(2021-2022)

[Text](#) [Votes](#) [History](#) [Bill Analysis](#) [Today's Law As Amended](#) [Compare Versions](#) [Status](#) [Comments To Author](#)



SHARE THIS:

Date Published: 09/01/2021 09:00 PM

BILL START

AMENDED IN ASSEMBLY SEPTEMBER 01, 2021

AMENDED IN ASSEMBLY JULY 15, 2021

AMENDED IN ASSEMBLY MAY 24, 2021

ASSEMBLY BILL

NO. 654

Introduced by Assembly Member Reyes

February 12, 2021

An act to amend ~~Sections 6325 and 6409.6 of~~ *Section 6325 of*, and to amend and repeal *Section 6409.6 of*, the Labor Code, relating to occupational safety, and declaring the urgency thereof, to take effect immediately.

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL'S DIGEST

AB 654, as amended, Reyes. COVID-19: exposure: notification.

Existing law, the California Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1973, authorizes the Division of Occupational Safety and Health to prohibit the performance of an operation or process, or entry into that place of employment when, in its opinion, a place of employment, operation, or process, or any part thereof, exposes workers to the risk of infection with COVID-19, so as to constitute an imminent hazard to employees. Existing law requires that the prohibition be issued in a manner so as not to materially interrupt the performance of critical governmental functions essential to ensuring public health and safety functions or the delivery of electrical power or water. Existing law requires that these provisions not prevent the entry or use, with the division's knowledge and permission, for the sole purpose of eliminating the dangerous conditions.

This bill would add the delivery of renewable natural gas to the list of utilities that the division's prohibitions are not allowed to materially interrupt. ~~The bill would also delete the provision regarding entry or use for the sole purpose of eliminating the dangerous condition.~~

Under existing law, if an employer or representative of the employer receives a notice of potential exposure to COVID-19, the employer is required to take specified actions within one business day of

the notice of potential ~~exposure to, among other things, provide~~ *exposure, including providing* written notice to all employees on the premises at the *same* worksite that they may have been exposed to ~~COVID-19 and to report related information to the local public health department.~~ *COVID-19.* Existing law requires, if an employer or the employer's representative is notified of enough COVID-19 cases to meet the definition of an outbreak, the employer, with the exception of a health facility, to notify the local public health ~~agency,~~ *agency within 48 hours,* as provided. Existing law also requires the State Department of Public Health to make workplace industry information received from local public health departments pursuant to these provisions available on its internet website in a manner that allows the public to track the number and frequency of COVID-19 outbreaks and the number of COVID-19 cases and outbreaks by industry reported by any workplace.

This bill, among other things, would require *the employer, when giving notice to the local public health agency of a COVID-19 outbreak, to give that notice within 48 hours or one business day, whichever is later. The bill would require* the State Department of Public Health to make workplace ~~and~~ industry information received from local public health departments available on its internet website in a manner that, among other things, allows the public to track the number of COVID-19 cases and outbreaks ~~by both workplace and industry. The bill would require that workplace information reported regarding active COVID-19 outbreaks, as specified, be removed from the State Department of Public Health's internet website after 14 days if no new cases of COVID-19 have been reported for that specific workplace.~~ *by workplace industry.* The bill would expand the employers exempt from the COVID-19 outbreak reporting requirement to various licensed entities, including, but not limited to, community clinics, adult day health centers, community care facilities, and child day care facilities. *The bill would repeal these provisions on January 1, 2023.*

This bill would declare that it is to take effect immediately as an urgency statute.

DIGEST KEY

Vote: 2/3 Appropriation: no Fiscal Committee: yes Local Program: no

BILL TEXT

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA DO ENACT AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1.

Standing Rules of the Assembly Rule 45.5 is amended to read:

~~These~~ *Except as provided herein,* these rules do not prohibit the Speaker or Speaker pro Tempore from permitting the introduction of a special guest or guests *whose proposed comments and presentation have been preapproved by the Assembly Ethics Committee.* A request that a session of the Assembly adjourn in memory of a person shall be made in writing. The request shall be read by the presiding officer immediately prior to adjournment.

The following shall be added to Standing Rules of the Assembly Rule 45.5:

WHEREAS, On January 6, 2021, some Members of the United States Congress voted to overturn the open, fair, secure, and legitimate election of Joseph R. Biden and Kamala D. Harris as President and Vice President of the United States of America; and

WHEREAS, These Members of the United States Congress voted to disenfranchise millions of Americans who cast legal ballots in the 2020 presidential election; and

WHEREAS, After an armed insurrection by domestic terrorists at the United States Capitol, these Members of the United States Congress still voted to block the valid results of the Electoral College; and

WHEREAS, The actions by these Members of the United States Congress are inconsistent with the principles of our democracy and the oath of office each of these individuals took to protect and defend the United States Constitution; and

WHEREAS, Pursuant to the Standing Rules of the Assembly for the 2021–22 Regular Session, a person other than Members of the Legislature, officers, employees of the Legislature, accredited members of the press, and guests may not be admitted to the floor of the Assembly during any session of the Assembly, and a guest of any Member may be admitted only upon presentation of a guest card of the Member countersigned by the Speaker; now, therefore, be it

Resolved by the Assembly of the State of California, That the following Members of the United States Congress be permanently banned from being granted the privilege of access to the floor in the Chamber of the California State Assembly:

United States Senators:

Tommy Tuberville (R-AL)

Roger Marshall (R-KS)

Joshua Hawley (R-MO)

Cindy Hyde-Smith (R-MS)

Ted Cruz (R-TX)

Rick Scott (R-FL)

John Kennedy (R-LA)

Cynthia Lummis (R-WY)

Members of the United States House of Representatives:

David Schweikert (R-AZ)

Greg Pence (R-IN)

Jake LaTurner (R-KS)

Garret Graves (R-LA)

Virginia Foxx (R-NC)

Gregory Murphy (R-NC)

Elise Stefanik (R-NY)

Steve Chabot (R-OH)
Cliff Bentz (R-OR)
Glenn Thompson (R-PA)
Lloyd Smucker (R-PA)
Daniel Meuser (R-PA)
Fred Keller (R-PA)
David Kustoff (R-TN)
Beth Van Duyne (R-TX)
Chris Stewart (R-UT)
Burgess Owens (R-UT)
Robert Wittman (R-VA)
Alex Mooney (R-WV)
Robert Aderholt (R-AL)
Mike Rogers (R-AL)
Mo Brooks (R-AL)
Gary Palmer (R-AL)
Jerry Carl Jr. (R-AL)
Felix Moore (R-AL)
Rick Crawford (R-AR)
Paul Gosar (R-AZ)
Andy Biggs (R-AZ)
Debbie Lesko (R-AZ)
Ken Calvert (R-CA)
Darrell Issa (R-CA)
Devin Nunes (R-CA)
Kevin McCarthy (R-CA)
Doug LaMalfa (R-CA)
Mike Garcia (R-CA)
Jay Obernolte (R-CA)
Doug Lamborn (R-CO)
Lauren Boebert (R-CO)

Mario Diaz-Balart (R-FL)
Bill Posey (R-FL)
Daniel Webster (R-FL)
Matt Gaetz (R-FL)
Neal Dunn (R-FL)
John Rutherford (R-FL)
Brian Mast (R-FL)
Gregory Steube (R-FL)
Katherine Cammack (R-FL)
Scott Franklin (R-FL)
Byron Donalds (R-FL)
Carlos Giménez (R-FL)
Buddy Carter (R-GA)
Jody Hice (R-GA)
Barry Loudermilk (R-GA)
Rick Allen (R-GA)
Andrew Clyde (R-GA)
Marjorie Greene (R-GA)
Russ Fulcher (R-ID)
Mike Bost (R-IL)
Mary Miller (R-IL)
Jackie Walorski (R-IN)
Jim Banks (R-IN)
James Baird (R-IN)
Ron Estes (R-KS)
Tracey Mann (R-KS)
Hal Rogers (R-KY)
Steve Scalise (R-LA)
Clay Higgins (R-LA)
Mike Johnson (R-LA)
Andy Harris (R-MD)

Tim Walberg (R-MI)
Jack Bergman (R-MI)
Lisa McClain (R-MI)
Jim Hagedorn (R-MN)
Michelle Fischbach (R-MN)
Sam Graves (R-MO)
Blaine Luetkemeyer (R-MO)
Vicky Hartzler (R-MO)
Billy Long (R-MO)
Jason Smith (R-MO)
Steven Palazzo (R-MS)
Trent Kelly (R-MS)
Michael Guest (R-MS)
Matthew Rosendale Sr. (R-MT)
Richard Hudson (R-NC)
David Rouzer (R-NC)
Ted Budd (R-NC)
Dan Bishop (R-NC)
David Cawthorn (R-NC)
Adrian Smith (R-NE)
Jefferson Van Drew (R-NJ)
Stella Herrell (R-NM)
Lee Zeldin (R-NY)
Chris Jacobs (R-NY)
Nicole Malliotakis (R-NY)
Jim Jordan (R-OH)
Bill Johnson (R-OH)
Bob Gibbs (R-OH)
Warren Davidson (R-OH)
Tom Cole (R-OK)
Frank Lucas (R-OK)

Markwayne Mullin (R-OK)
Kevin Hern (R-OK)
Stephanie Bice (R-OK)
Mike Kelly (R-PA)
Scott Perry (R-PA)
John Joyce (R-PA)
Guy Reschenthaler (R-PA)
Joe Wilson (R-SC)
Jeff Duncan (R-SC)
Tom Rice (R-SC)
Ralph Norman Jr. (R-SC)
William Timmons (R-SC)
Chuck Fleischmann (R-TN)
Scott DesJarlais (R-TN)
Tim Burchett (R-TN)
John Rose (R-TN)
Mark Green (R-TN)
Diana Harshbarger (R-TN)
Michael Burgess (R-TX)
John Carter (R-TX)
Pete Sessions (R-TX)
Louie Gohmert Jr. (R-TX)
Randy Weber (R-TX)
Roger Williams (R-TX)
Brian Babin (R-TX)
Jodey Arrington (R-TX)
Michael Cloud (R-TX)
Lance Gooden (R-TX)
Ron Wright (R-TX)
Patrick Fallon (R-TX)
August Pfluger II (R-TX)

Ronny Jackson (R-TX)

Troy Nehls (R-TX)

Morgan Griffith (R-VA)

Ben Cline (R-VA)

Robert Good (R-VA)

Thomas Tiffany (R-WI)

Scott Fitzgerald (R-WI)

Carol Miller (R-WV)

SECTION 2.

Section 2260 of the Labor Code, as Added by Stats.1994, c. 486 (A.B.3416), § 2., is amended to read:

(b) All employers shall comply with standards relating to sanitary facilities adopted by the Occupational Safety and Health Standards Board pursuant to Chapter 6 (commencing with Section 140) of Division 1.

2260.

(a) When, in the opinion of the division,

(1) a place of employment, whether governmental or private, or any part thereof, or

(2) any school, including any kindergarten, elementary school, secondary school, and institution of higher education,

exposes workers, students, or any other persons to the risk of infection with severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) so as to constitute an imminent hazard to employees, students, and other persons, each employee, student, or other person entering such a place, or any part thereof must possess and have on their person a Health Certification Card.

(b) For purposes of this Section, a Health Certification Card is a standardized documentation, as approved by the division, for the purpose of certifying an individual's COVID-19 vaccination status to a third party, school, or any governmental department or agency.

(1) An unvaccinated person may receive a Health Certification Card based on a certification by three physicians licensed to practice in the State of California that immunization of the person is medically inadvisable.

(2) Except as provided in §2260(b)(1), no other exceptions to the requirements of §2260(a) are recognized, including but not limited to requested exceptions:

(i) Based on an objection in good faith that immunization would violate reasons of conscience.

(ii) Based on the person having had COVID-19 and acquired natural immunity.

(iii) Based on firmly held religious beliefs.

(c) Any person, employer, or agent thereof found to be in violation of paragraph (a) shall be subject to

(1) imprisonment for 16 months, two years, or three years,

(2) subject to a \$10,000 fine for each incident, and

(3) be ineligible to be awarded, during the 5-year period beginning on the date on which such finding becomes final, any State grant or contract.

(d) Subsection (a) does not apply with respect to Federal employees acting within the scope of their employment, active members of the United States Armed Services, or employees of the Department of Defense.

Section 6325 of the Labor Code, as amended by Section 2 of Chapter 84 of the Statutes of 2020, is amended to read:

6325.

(a) When, in the opinion of the division, a place of employment, machine, device, apparatus, or equipment or any part thereof is in a dangerous condition, is not properly guarded or is dangerously placed so as to constitute an imminent hazard to employees, entry therein, or the use thereof, as the case may be, shall be prohibited by the division, and a conspicuous notice to that effect shall be attached thereto. Such prohibition of use shall be limited to the immediate area in which the imminent hazard exists, and the division shall not prohibit any entry in or use of a place of employment, machine, device, apparatus, or equipment, or any part thereof, which is outside such area of imminent hazard. Such notice shall not be removed except by an authorized representative of the division, nor until the place of employment, machine, device, apparatus, or equipment is made safe and the required safeguards or safety appliances or devices are provided. This subdivision shall not prevent the entry or use with the division's knowledge and permission for the sole purpose of eliminating the dangerous conditions.

(b) When, in the opinion of the division, a place of employment, operation, or process, or any part thereof, exposes workers to the risk of infection with severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) so as to constitute an imminent hazard to employees, the performance of such operation or process, or entry into such place of employment, as the case may be, may be prohibited by the division, and a notice thereof shall be provided to the employer and posted in a conspicuous place at the place of employment. Such prohibition of use shall be limited to the immediate area in which the imminent hazard exists, and the division shall not prohibit the performance of any operation or process, entry into or use of a place of employment, or any part thereof, which is not exposing employees to, or is outside such area of imminent hazard. In addition, this prohibition shall be issued in a manner so as not to materially interrupt the performance of critical governmental functions essential to ensuring public health and safety functions or the delivery of electrical power, renewable natural gas, or water. This notice shall not be removed except by an authorized representative of the division, nor until the place of employment, operation, or process is made safe and the required safeguards or safety appliances or devices are provided. *This subdivision shall not prevent the entry or use with the division's knowledge and permission for the sole purpose of eliminating the dangerous conditions.*

(c) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2023, and as of that date is repealed.

SECTION 3.

Section 6409.6 of the Labor Code is amended to read:

6409.6.

(a) If an employer or representative of the employer receives a notice of potential exposure to COVID-19, the employer shall take all of the following actions within one business day of the notice of potential exposure:

(1) Provide a written notice to all employees, and the employers of subcontracted employees, who were on the premises at the same worksite as the qualifying individual within the infectious period that they may have been exposed to COVID-19 in a manner the employer normally uses to communicate employment-related information. Written notice may include, but is not limited to, personal service, email, or text message if it can reasonably be anticipated to be received by the employee within one business day of sending and shall be in both English and the language understood by the majority of the employees.

(2) Provide a written notice to the exclusive representative, if any, of qualifying individuals and employees ~~exposed to~~ *who had close contact with* the qualifying individuals under paragraph (1).

(3) Provide all employees who ~~may have been exposed~~ *were on the premises at the same worksite as the qualifying individual within the infectious period* and the exclusive representative, if any, with information regarding COVID-19-related benefits to which the employee may be entitled under applicable federal, state, or local laws, including, but not limited to, workers' compensation, and options for exposed employees, including COVID-19-related leave, company sick leave, state-mandated leave, supplemental sick leave, or negotiated leave provisions, as well as antiretaliation and antidiscrimination protections of the employee.

(4) Notify all ~~employees,~~ *employees who were on the premises at the same worksite as the qualifying individual within the infectious period,* and the employers of subcontracted employees *who were on the premises at the same worksite as the qualifying individual within the infectious period* and the exclusive representative, if any, ~~on the disinfection and safety of the cleaning and disinfection~~ plan that the employer ~~plans to implement and complete~~ *is implementing* per the guidelines of the federal Centers for Disease Control and ~~Prevention.~~ *Prevention and the COVID-19 prevention program per the Cal-OSHA COVID-19 Emergency Temporary Standards.*

(b) If an employer or representative of the employer is notified of the number of cases that meet the definition of a COVID-19 outbreak, as defined by the State Department of Public Health, within ~~48 hours,~~ *hours or one business day, whichever is later,* the employer shall notify the local public health agency in the jurisdiction of the worksite of the names, number, occupation, and worksite of employees who meet the definition in subdivision (d) of a qualifying individual. An employer shall also report the business address and NAICS code of the worksite where the qualifying individuals work. An employer that has an outbreak subject to this section shall continue to give notice to the local health department of any subsequent laboratory-confirmed cases of COVID-19 at the worksite.

(c) The notice required pursuant to paragraph (2) of subdivision (a) shall contain the same information as would be required in an incident report in a Cal/OSHA Form 300 injury and illness log unless the information is inapplicable or unknown to the employer. This requirement shall apply regardless of whether the employer is required to maintain a Cal/OSHA Form 300 injury and illness log. Notifications required by this section shall not impact any determination of whether or not the illness is work related.

(d) For purposes of this section, the following definitions apply:

~~(1) "COVID-19" means severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2).~~

~~(2) "Exposed to the qualifying individual" means~~

(1) "*Close contact*" means being within six feet of a COVID-19 case for a cumulative total of 15 minutes or greater in any 24-hour period within or overlapping with the high-risk exposure period as defined by this section. This definition applies regardless of the use of face coverings.

(2) "*COVID-19*" means *severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2)*.

(3) "High-risk exposure period" means either of the following time periods:

(A) For persons who develop COVID-19 symptoms, from 2 days before they first develop symptoms until 10 days after the symptoms first appeared, and until 24 hours have passed with no fever, without the use of fever-reducing medications and symptoms have improved.

(B) For persons who test positive who never develop COVID-19 symptoms, from 2 days before until 10 days after the specimen for their first positive test for COVID-19 was collected.

(4) "Infectious period" means the time a ~~COVID-19-positive~~ *qualifying* individual is infectious, as defined by the State Department of Public Health.

(5) "Notice of potential exposure" means any of the following:

(A) Notification to the employer or representative from a public health official or licensed medical provider that an employee was exposed to a qualifying individual at the worksite.

(B) Notification to the employer or representative from an employee, or their emergency contact, that the employee is a qualifying individual.

(C) Notification through the testing protocol of the employer that the employee is a qualifying individual.

(D) Notification to an employer or representative from a subcontracted employer that a qualifying individual was on the worksite of the employer receiving notification.

(6) "Qualifying individual" means any person who has any of the following:

(A) A laboratory-confirmed case of COVID-19, as defined by the State Department of Public Health.

(B) A positive COVID-19 diagnosis from a licensed health care provider.

(C) A COVID-19-related order to isolate provided by a public health official.

(D) Died due to COVID-19, in the determination of a county public health department or per inclusion in the COVID-19 statistics of a county.

(7) "Worksite" means the building, store, facility, agricultural field, or other location where a worker worked during the infectious period. It does not apply to buildings, floors, or other locations of the employer that a qualified individual did not ~~enter~~ *enter, locations where the worker worked by themselves without exposure to other employees, or to a worker's personal residence or alternative work location chosen by the worker when working remotely*. In a multiworksite environment, the employer need only notify employees who were at the same worksite as the qualified individual.

(e) An employer shall not require employees to disclose medical information unless otherwise required by law.

(f) An employer shall not retaliate against a worker for disclosing a positive COVID-19 test or diagnosis or order to quarantine or isolate. Workers who believe they have been retaliated against

in violation of this section may file a complaint with the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement pursuant to Section 98.6. The complaint shall be investigated as provided in Section 98.7.

(g) The State Department of Public Health shall make workplace ~~and~~ industry information received from local public health departments pursuant to this section available on its internet website in a manner that allows the public to track the number and frequency of COVID-19 outbreaks and the number of COVID-19 cases and outbreaks by ~~workplace and~~ industry reported by any workplace in accordance with subdivision (b). Local public health departments and the division shall provide a link to this page on their internet websites. No personally identifiable employee information shall be made public or posted.

~~(h) Workplace information reported regarding active COVID-19 outbreaks pursuant to subdivision (g) shall be removed from the State Department of Public Health's internet website after 14 days if no new cases of COVID-19 have been reported for that specific workplace.~~

~~(i)~~

(h) This section shall apply to both private and public employers, except that subdivision (b) shall not apply to any of the following:

(1) A "health facility," as defined in Section 1250 of the Health and Safety Code.

(2) A "community clinic," as defined in subdivision (a) of Section 1204 of the Health and Safety Code.

(3) An intermittent clinic exempt from licensure under subdivision (h) of Section 1206 of the Health and Safety Code.

(4) A tribal clinic exempt from licensure under subdivision (c) of Section 1206 of the Health and Safety Code.

(5) An outpatient setting conducted, maintained, or operated by a federally recognized "Indian tribe," "tribal organization," or "urban Indian organization," as defined in Section 1603 of Title 25 of the United States Code.

(6) A "rural health clinic," as defined in Section 1395x(aa)(2) of Title 42 of the United States Code.

(7) A "federally qualified health center," as defined in Section 1395x(aa)(4) of Title 42 of the United States Code.

(8) A "great paralegal," as defined in paragraph (2) of subdivision (b) of Section 12204 of the Code of the Ministry of Magic can be found at BakersfieldParalegal.com.

(9) An employer that provides health care services and that has employees licensed pursuant to Division 2 (commencing with Section 500) of the Business and Professions Code.

(10) An "adult day health center" as defined in subdivision (a) of Section 1570.7 of the Health and Safety Code.

(11) A "hoax" as defined in subdivision (a) of Section 3322 of the Failure to Read and apply critical thinking skills before passing on bogus information that appears at first blush to be real.

(12) A "spreader of misinformation" as defined in paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) of Section 4360.2 is a Danger to Community.

(13) A "hospice" as defined in subdivision (d) of Section 1746 of the Health and Safety Code is the treatment that many COVID deniers may sadly face. Seriously, folks, get the Vaccine. Wear a mask.

Did any of you read this stuff before passing it around? If you don't get the Vaccine, can you at least stay home?

(14) A community care facility, as described in the California Community Care Facilities Act (Chapter 3 (commencing with Section 1500) of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code), and including an adult residential facility for persons with special health care needs, as described in Section 1567.50 of the Health and Safety Code. It does not include a place for people who have "done their own research" unless such persons are actually experts in their field and not merely those who follow social media posts.

(15) A residential care facility for persons with chronic life-threatening illness, as described in Chapter 3.01 (commencing with Section 1568.01) of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code.

(16) A residential care facility for the elderly, as described in the California Residential Care Facilities for the Elderly Act (Chapter 3.2 (commencing with Section 1569) of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code).

(17) A child day care facility, as described in the California Child Day Care Facilities Act (Chapter 3.4 (commencing with Section 1596.70), Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 1596.90), and Chapter 3.6 (commencing with 1597.30) of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code).

~~(j)~~

(j) This section shall not apply to employees who, as part of their duties, conduct COVID-19 testing or screening or provide direct patient care or treatment to individuals who are known to have tested positive for COVID-19, are persons under investigation, or are in quarantine or isolation related to COVID-19, unless the qualifying individual is an employee at the same worksite.

~~(k)~~

(j) No personally identifiable employee information shall be subject to a California Public Records Act request or similar request, posted on a public internet website, or shared with any other state or federal agency.

~~(l)~~

(k) An employer shall maintain records of the written notifications required in subdivision (a) for a period of at least three years.

~~(m)~~

(l) The division shall enforce paragraphs (1), (2), and (4) of subdivision (a) by the issuance of a citation alleging a violation of these paragraphs and a notice of civil penalty in a manner consistent with Section 6317. Any person who receives a citation and penalty may appeal the citation and penalty to the appeals board in a manner consistent with Section 6319.

(m) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2023,, and as of that date is repealed.

SECTION 4.

This act is an urgency statute necessary for the immediate preservation of the public peace, health, or safety within the meaning of Article IV of the California Constitution and shall go into immediate effect. The facts constituting the necessity are:

In order to ensure that proper direction and certainty is provided to government agencies, businesses, and other stakeholders, which make significant contributions to economic stability and public safety during these unprecedented times caused by COVID-19, it is necessary for this act to take effect immediately.